

Northern Territory Council of Social Service Inc. 'Growing the NT fairly'

NTCOSS Submission to the Legislative Assembly of the Northern Territory Government

Select Committee on Action to Prevent Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder.

May 2014

Wendy Morton Executive Director PO Box 1128, Nightcliff NT 0814 1/18 Bauhinia Street, Nightcliff, NT 0810. Ph 08 8948 2665 Fax 08 8948 4590 Email: <u>wendy.morton@ntcoss.org.au</u> Website: www.ntcoss.org.au ABN: 19 556 236 404

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	3
SCOPE OF THE SUBMISSION	3
LIST OF RECOMMENDATIONS	5
FETAL ALCOHOL SPECTRUM DISORDERS-DEFINING THE PROBLEM	8
PREVALENCE OF FASD IN THE NT	9
ALCOHOL USE IN THE NT	10
RECENT AND CURRENT GOVERNMENT INITIATIVES	11
FASD INITIATIVES IN AUSTRALIA	12
NTCOSS RECOMMENDATIONS 1. A coordinated and culturally safe approach to FASD across	14
the NT	14
2. Prevention	16
3. Diagnosis of FASD	20
4. Support to Carers and Family Members	22
5. Resourcing of the Service Sector to better respond to FASD	23
6. Implementation of Good Practice FASD Prevention and Intervention models	32
REFERENCES	38
REFERENCES	50

2

Introduction

The Northern Territory of Social Services (NTCOSS) welcomes the opportunity to provide input to the Legislative Assembly of the Northern Territory Select Committee on Action to Prevent Foetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder.

NTCOSS is a peak body for the community sector in the NT and is a voice for people affected by social and economic disadvantage and inequality. The community sector in the NT is made up of community managed, non-government, not for profit organisations who work in social and community service delivery, sector development and advocacy. The community sector plays a vital role in creating social wellbeing for all Territorians and in building safe and healthy communities by providing services that enable people to access and participate in health services, education, employment, economic development, and family and community life.

Scope of the Submission

NTCOSS welcomes the opportunity to contribute to a discussion about best responses to FASD in the NT. Fetal¹ Alcohol Spectrum Disorders (FASD) are a set of potentially devastating lifelong conditions, which are poorly recognised and understood in Australia.

Terms of reference of the Inquiry are:

- 1. The prevalence in the Northern Territory of Foetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder (FASD);
- 2. The nature of the injuries and effects of FASD on its sufferers; and
- 3. Actions the Government can take to reduce FASD based on evidence and consultation.

FASD has a significant impact on children, families, young people and adults in the Northern Territory. Although the data indicates Aboriginal children are at higher risk, the culture of alcohol consumption in the Northern Territory means many families are at risk of a pregnancy affected by alcohol. Aboriginal children are however particularly vulnerable to the negative consequences of FASD as they are already developmentally vulnerable.

NTCOSS represents a service sector with a high level of contact with affected individuals and their families. This submission will address:

1. A Coordinated and Culturally Safe Response to FASD across the NT

¹ This submission uses the spelling "Fetal" which is consistent with that used by the National Health and Medical Research Council. Most Australian FASD researchers are now using this spelling.

NTCOSS submission to the Legislative Assembly Select Committee on Prevention of Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder

• Engagement with Aboriginal communities is critical to effective prevention and intervention with affected individuals and their families.

2. Prevention

- NTCOSS recommends development of a preventative strategy informed by an understanding of the complexity of reasons why women consume alcohol in pregnancy
- Prevention strategy needs to target support for high-risk women based on international best practice.

3. Diagnosis

- There are no diagnostic services for FASD in the NT, which means the majority of affected children, young people and adults are undiagnosed.
- The need for FASD to be recognised as a Disability in order to develop recognition of the disorder within the service system and improve access to supports.

4. Support for carers and family members affected by FASD

• Carers have difficulty accessing supports and resources around FASD and need access to information and resources and to support workers who are trained and educated about FASD.

5. Resourcing of the service sector to better respond to the needs of individuals with FASD

• Many services and agencies lack information and resources about FASD and therefore sector knowledge in many areas is very limited. Staff need to be knowledgeable about FASD to incorporate appropriate interventions into existing programs and services.

6. Implementation of best practice FASD prevention and intervention models informed by current research

- We can learn from evaluated models of intervention which have been developed in the NT and WA with similar communities.
- While FASD responses can be integrated into the service system in many respects, there is a need for dedicated local FASD projects to raise awareness of the issue, develop local prevention strategies and educate the community, professionals and key stakeholders.

List of Recommendations:

1.1 Establishment of cross-government FASD Working Group with key stakeholders from Health, DCF, Aboriginal health services,

A FASD Working Group should include the following:

- a) Development of a Northern Territory-wide FASD prevention strategy
- b) Development of targeted FASD prevention interventions with high risk communities
- c) A consultative framework with a diverse range of Aboriginal people and organisations to develop and implement culturally appropriate, local strategies to prevent FASD.
- d) Promote community ownership in FASD prevention to ensure that communities are invested in FASD prevention strategies.
- e) Develop a strategy for supporting individuals with FASD, including resourcing existing services to better meet the needs of this group.
- f) Establishment of an FASD advisory committee comprising experts in the field to ensure that FASD interventions are consistent with national and international research, knowledge and practice.

2.1 That the Northern Territory Government commit to a FASD prevention strategy which includes:

- a) Population wide messages about the risks of alcohol in pregnancy including alcohol labelling
- b) Guidelines for health professionals about messages relating to alcohol in pregnancy
- c) Specialised supports for women who have children with FASD and are at risk of further births
- d) Services to women who use alcohol in pregnancy should be supportive and recognise the complex issues relating to alcohol use in pregnancy
- e) Follow up support for at risk mothers after the birth of a child to reduce the risk of harm in future pregnancies
- f) Services for Aboriginal women should be non-judgmental, recognise impact of trauma, and be culturally safe.

2.2. NTCOSS does not support any form of punitive measures for pregnant women as research indicates this to be counter-productive.

- 3.1 That FASD diagnostic teams be established in the NT
- 3.2 That FASD be identified as a disability in the NT
- 3.3 That individuals with FASD be able to access Disability Services

3.4 That Disability Services workers be trained in FASD

4. Development of training and FASD specific resources to enhance the skill and knowledge base for those caring for or supporting individuals with FASD.

5.1 Improved data collection in relation to alcohol in pregnancy

5.2 Development of procedures to ensure all pregnant women receive appropriate screening for alcohol use and training for practitioners to ensure this occurs.

5.3 Resources for health practitioners to develop sensitive and culturally safe strategies for assessing alcohol use in pregnancy and providing education to mothers.

5.4 Community consultation about appropriate service models to assist pregnant women with alcohol dependence access treatment.

5.5 Further training of health providers in identification and diagnosis of FAS and FASD

5.6 That the NT government produces resources for health providers on FASD, diagnosis and screening, effects of FASD and intervention strategies.

5.7 That procedures be put in place to ensure that children with Fetal Alcohol Exposure are flagged for regular developmental screens

5.8 That Fetal Alcohol exposure be recorded on medical files to enable future diagnosis when available

5.9 That the NT government ensure that all agencies working with infants, children or families have access to accurate, up to date information about alcohol consumption in pregnancy and the impact of FASD.

5.10 That the NT government provides FASD screening guidelines to professionals working with vulnerable infants and children.

5.11 That culturally appropriate information is sourced from relevant successful FASD Projects in Australia and adapted where necessary to the NT setting.

5.12 That the NT government explore screening of children at preschool for FASD in order to refer for diagnosis and early intervention services.

5.13 That staff of early childcare services are provided with education and training in FASD

5.14 That successful interventions for children with FASD in preschool years are promoted.

5.15 That FASD training be included in professional development for all teachers in the NT.

5.16 That DET develop resources on classroom management strategies and individual learning plans that reflect best current international practice.

5.17 That Department of Children and Families identify and implement best practice models to assess and support children with FASD.

5.18 That workers with vulnerable young people be provided with access to resources and training to assist them in developing more appropriate service responses to young people with FASD.

5.19 That international best practice service models for supporting young people with FASD be explored and features of these models be incorporated into existing service design.

5.20 That services providing support to vulnerable adults are provided with resources about effective interventions with adults with FASD based on best practice Internationally.

5.21 That staff working with adults who may have fetal alcohol exposure be educated and trained about the disorder

5.22 That staff working with adults ask about maternal alcohol consumption in pregnancy as part of their assessment.

6.1 That the NT FASD Working group examine good practice models of FASD prevention and intervention both from Australia and Internationally with a view to implementation in selected sites in the NT.

Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders – Defining the problem

Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders (FASD) represent:

...a group of permanent disorders caused by exposure of the unborn child to alcohol consumed by the mother during pregnancy... Babies exposed to alcohol *in utero* may be born with deformities of the brain, nervous system, kidneys, heart, lungs, eyes, ears; may have growth problems; and may display a series of specific facial characteristics. Developmental, behavioural and learning problems are common. What is most devastating about this condition is that it is 100% preventable (Latimer et al 2010).

For those who don't have physical features or access to diagnosis, FASD is a largely invisible condition. Most people living with FASD in Australia don't know they have the condition. Children may be diagnosed with other disorders.

Primary conditions common to FASD include:

- learning difficulties
- impulsiveness
- difficulty relating actions to consequences
- social relationships
- attention/hyperactivity
- memory
- developmental delays

Over time these conditions lead to other secondary effects including:

- Difficulty with peer relationships
- Behavioural problems
- Aggression
- Easily frustrated
- Anxiety

Without support, long-term outcomes for individuals can include:

- Poverty and homelessness
- Involvement in the criminal justice system
- Substance abuse
- Mental health issues
- Victimisation
- Suicidality
- Difficulty parenting and involvement with child protection services.

Individuals with FASD have particularly poor outcomes when their condition is not diagnosed. These adults experience many difficulties coping with the expectations of adult life, and no allowances are made for them on the basis of their disability. These adults have frequent contact with the social service system and the justice system, yet find it difficult to access services that meet their needs. Their presenting issues

may include mental illness or drug and alcohol issues, but these mask a brain-based disability of which neither they nor the agency is aware.

The most severe form of FASD is Fetal Alcohol Syndrome (FAS), a term which was coined in 1973 by Drs Jones and Smith from the University of Washington. The diagnostic criteria for FAS were established as:

- 1. Growth deficit
- 2. A set of distinctive facial features
- 3. Evidence of central nervous system damage
- 4. A confirmed history of maternal alcohol exposure.

These criteria have not changed since the paper was published. In Australia the diagnosis is made by a paediatrician.

Over time it became apparent that many individuals experienced some but not all of the criteria for FAS. In 2004, the term Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders was agreed upon as an umbrella term for the range of possible effects of alcohol exposure. There are several diagnostic guidelines used in the US and Canada, but Australia does not have current FASD diagnostic guidelines.

Researchers from the Telethon institute in WA are currently finalizing a diagnostic instrument for FASD in Australia. Researchers have indicated that the criteria will include Partial Fetal Alcohol Syndrome (PFAS) where some but not all of the facial features are present, and Neurodevelopmental Disorder – Alcohol Exposed (ND-AE), which includes individuals who have none of the facial features and no growth deficit, but do have evidence of central nervous system damage, and a history of maternal alcohol exposure.

Prevalence of FASD in the NT

Internationally, FAS is estimated to affect between 2.8/1000 and 4.8/1000 births, and FASD 9.1/1000 births (Sampson et al 1997).²

There is very little data about FASD in the Northern Territory. In 2003 Harris and Bucens conducted a prevalence study of FAS among children in the Top End of NT. They reviewed medical records children seen by paediatricians at Darwin Hospital between 1990-2000 and found that estimated rates of FAS of:

- 0.68/1000 live births
- 1.87/1000 live births for Aboriginal children

² Sampson PD, Streissguth AP, Bookstein FL, et al. (1997) *Incidence of fetal alcohol syndrome and prevalence of alcohol-related neurodevelopmental disorder*. Teratology 1997; 56:317-26.

NTCOSS submission to the Legislative Assembly Select Committee on Prevention of Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder

When other conditions on the FASD spectrum were included, the rates were 1.7:1000 live births and 4.7:1000 for Aboriginal children (Harris and Bucens 2003).³ The results were considered to be an under-estimation due to the fact that many children are not brought in to see paediatricians in Darwin due to distance.

A study of births in WA found a rate of FAS at

- 0.02/1000 live births non Aboriginal children
- 2.76/ 1000 live births Aboriginal children (Bower et al 2000).

Peadon et al (2008) estimate that the rate of FASD among the Indigenous community is between 2.76 and 4.7/1000 live births. Others suggest the rates may be significantly higher, with a study in far north Queensland estimating FASD at 15/1000 births and one Cape York Community reporting a prevalence of 26/1000 births (Wise 2013)

The over-representation of Aboriginal children among children diagnosed with FASD is of great concern and indicates the need to actively and assertively address this issue among the Northern Territory population. Aboriginal children are already disadvantaged in relation to health outcomes and life expectancy, and brain-injury as a result of fetal alcohol exposure must be actively prevented.

Alcohol Use in the NT

The prevalence of alcohol related harms in the Northern Territory are well documented. Each person in the NT consumes an average of 15 litres of alcohol per year, compared to an average of 10 litres per person across Australia. The National Drug Strategy Household Survey of 2007 found that 17.2% of non-Indigenous adults in the NT consumed alcohol at a level consistent with a risk to health in the long term, compared to the national average of 10.6%. Rates among Aboriginal adults are higher, with 30.1% of Aboriginal adults consuming alcohol at a high-risk level. Of those seeking assistance for drug or alcohol issues in the Northern Territory, alcohol is the most common substance representing 69% of treatment episodes (AIHW 2011).

Alcohol use in pregnancy is also at concerning levels. Around 50% of pregnancies are unplanned, so there is a risk with high levels of alcohol consumption across the population, that women consuming alcohol in pregnancy will often do so inadvertently.

Across Australia, 1 in 5 Indigenous mothers with children aged 0-3 reported drinking in pregnancy in 2008 (ABS 2012). Between 2003-2006, it was reported that one in eight Indigenous pregnant women and one in 12 non-Indigenous pregnant women in

³ Harris, KR and Bucens, IK. (2003) *Prevalance of fetal alcohol syndrome in the Top End of the Northern Territory*, Journal of Paediatric and Child Health Vol 39 pp 528-533.

the NT were consuming alcohol at the first antenatal visit. Between 8-8.7% of Indigenous women and 3.6-4.7% of non-Indigenous women were still consuming alcohol at 36 weeks (HGPIS 2010).

A recent Australian analysis of alcohol use in pregnancy indicate that while women's consumption of alcohol in pregnancy has declined in recent years, those who use alcohol either weekly or those who engage in binge drinking are less likely to change their pattern of use in pregnancy. 46% of women in the study continued risky drinking patterns in pregnancy (Anderson et al 2014).

Recent and Current Government initiatives

In November 2012 the Commonwealth Parliamentary Inquiry into Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders tabled its report entitled *FASD: The Hidden Harm*. The report included a number of recommendations including:

- A National Plan of Action for prevention, diagnosis and management of FASD including a range of strategies detailed below
- Training to ensure that all health professionals promote a clear message that not drinking while pregnant is safest
- Data collection on drinking in pregnancy
- Warning labels on alcoholic beverages
- A study of the impact of pricing and availability of alcohol including strategies marketing alcohol to young people
- Public awareness campaign on the risks of alcohol in pregnancy
- Working with the States and Territories to develop strategies to assist Aboriginal communities to reduce the impact of alcohol and assist in community-led initiatives to reduce high-risk consumption patters and the impact of alcohol
- A national diagnostic and management strategy including awareness of health providers; a model of diagnostic services covering regional and metropolitan areas, and identification of best practice for management of FASD.
- Raising awareness of FASD including among teachers, parents, foster carers, youth workers, drug and alcohol workers, and corrections workers.
- That FASD be recognised as a disability.

In August 2013 the Australian Government responded through the Australian Government Action Plan to reduce the impact of FASD 2013-14 to 2016-17. The plan includes:

- Improving the diagnosis of FASD by utilising the Medicare Local network to reduce and prevent substance misuse
- Finalising the development of a FASD diagnostic tool

11

- Development of guidelines to support diagnosis and early management of FASD
- Strengthening existing efforts to prevent FASD and reduce its impact on remote Indigenous communities through alcohol management plans and other measures including the New Directions Mother and Babies Services
- Raising awareness across relevant Government service providers including establishment of a collaborative network of FASD experts to improve information exchange.

The status of this Action Plan and the financial commitments is on hold since the Federal election in September 2013 and it is still unclear whether any of the commitments will proceed.

Three research projects have been funded under the NHMRC targeted call for research on FASD in Indigenous communities:

- Behaviour support training for FASD University of Sydney
- FASD prevalence study at Cherbourg, Qld University of Sydney
- Improving management of young people with FASD within the justice system Western Australia.

FASD initiatives in Australia

There have been a number of FASD initiatives in Australia:

- Development of a Diagnostic Instrument for FASD in Australia funded by DoHA.
- The Liliwan project in Fitzroy Crossing, Western Australia which has screened all children born in 2002 and 2003 in the Fitzroy Valley for FASD.
- Anyinginyi Health FASD project, Tennant Creek, which raised awareness of FASD within the Barkly region, conducted FASD training, and produced several FASD prevention videos. This project was originally funded by FaHCSIA for two years.
- Ord Valley Aboriginal Health Service FASD Prevention Program provides community education to individuals and community groups. This project has developed innovative resources using an all of community approach to FASD education. This project was initially funded by the WA government but is now funded by DoHA through the New Directions Mothers and Babies program.
- Strong Spirits Strong Futures promoting healthy women and pregnancy project, WA Drug and Alcohol Office. This initiative is funded under Closing the Gap until June 2014.
- The Telethon Institute in Perth has a Alcohol and Pregnancy and FASD Research Program which includes a focus on Aboriginal communities, and on translating research into practice.
- The Foundation for Alcohol Research and Education (FARE) has funded a number of small community grants for FASD prevention and education. FARE

also developed a fully-costed FASD Action Plan 2013-2016 with an estimated cost of \$37m to address gaps in the prevention and management of FASD. The plan recommended a broad-based population approach to addressing FASD including a public education campaign and three FASD diagnostic clinics across Australia.

In relation to population-wide prevention measures, while brochures are available from the Department of Health, there have been no recent education campaigns aimed at raising awareness within the community of the significant risks posed by fetal alcohol exposure.

In November 2013 an Australian conference on FASD was held in Brisbane. Delegates including community agencies, parents and carers, researchers and health professionals released a Call to Action urging "health professionals, service providers, governments and the community to work together to reduce the prevalence of FASD and improve the quality of life of individuals and families living with FASD."

Key points included:

- The need for plans of action to address gaps in the prevention, diagnosis and management of FASD
- Comprehensive population-wide public education campaigns focusing on the risks of alcohol consumption in pregnancy
- Specialist services for pregnant women and research on effective treatments for women with alcohol use disorders
- Promotion of evidence-based screening and brief intervention among health professionals working with women who consume alcohol in pregnancy
- Recognition of FASD as a disability and access to a range of services to support individuals with the disorder across the lifespan
- A whole of government response with FASD systematically integrated into service development and policy
- A commitment by Government, providers and communities to address FASD through culturally secure strategies in partnership with Indigenous people
- Continuing research on FASD
- Prevention of FASD needs to be non-judgemental, sensitive and cognisant of the potential for stigma
- Training is required by those working in education, justice and care.

13

NTCOSS Recommendations:

1. A Coordinated and culturally safe approach to FASD across the NT

Fetal alcohol exposure is a significant risk to Indigenous children in the Northern Territory and compounds other well-documented inequities between Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal children and families. Risk factors for Aboriginal children compared to non-Aboriginal children include:

- Greater risk of low birth weight and prematurity
- Greater risk of exposure to smoking and alcohol in pregnancy
- More frequent hospitalisations for infections
- Higher death rates
- Skin infections leading to renal failure
- Impaired hearing.
- Higher risk of child protection involvement and entering care
- Higher exposure to family risk factors
- Higher risk of emotional or behavioural difficulties
- Greater risk of being developmentally vulnerable on the Australian Early Development Index. (Wise 2013, Bowes and Grace 2014).

Aboriginal children are overrepresented among individuals with FASD, with rates estimated as high as 100 times that of the non-Aboriginal population (Bower et all 2000).

It is essential that responses to FASD in the Northern Territory engage Aboriginal services in all respects, from engagement, definition of the problem, exploration of best practice models, development of strategies appropriate to the NT, and implementation and evaluation.

Strategies also need to be integrated with other early childhood services, but it is important that the FASD prevention message is not lost in amongst other issues such as smoking, nutrition and hygiene. When the impact of alcohol is presented alongside a long list of health messages, the important message about damage caused by alcohol in pregnancy can be lost.

Burton (2012) identified that two key ways to increase access to and engagement with children and family services for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples are: (i) working within a cultural competence framework; and (ii) engaging in effective partnerships with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities and organisations.

Hunt (2013) reviewed the evidence for programs reducing Aboriginal disadvantage, and identified factors which contributed to positive engagement with Aboriginal communities, including:

• Services aligned with community needs

- Building trust through tangible benefits and implementing an empowering process through community development
- Partnerships that allowed for training of Aboriginal staff
- Participatory processes with Aboriginal research assistants, focus groups, consultation and feedback processes with Aboriginal communities and health services
- Extensive community consultation using existing community organisations/structures, Aboriginal Elders and Aboriginal health workers

Recommendations:

1.1 Establishment of cross-government FASD Working Group with key stakeholders from health, DCF, Aboriginal health services,

A FASD Working Group should include the following:

- g) Development of a Northern Territory-wide FASD prevention strategy
- h) Development of targeted FASD prevention interventions with high risk communities
- i) A consultative framework with a diverse range of Aboriginal people and organisations to develop and implement culturally appropriate, local strategies to prevent FASD.
- j) Promote community ownership in FASD prevention to ensure that communities are invested in FASD prevention strategies.
- k) Develop a strategy for supporting individuals with FASD, including resourcing existing services to better meet the needs of this group.
- Establishment of an FASD advisory committee comprising experts in the field to ensure that FASD interventions are consistent with national and international research, knowledge and practice.

2. Prevention

In May 2014 NTCOSS hosted a FASD prevention workshop in Alice Springs presented by Nancy Poole, Director of the British Columbia Center of Excellence for Women's health Vancouver and the Lead researcher on the Prevention Team, Canada FASD Research Network.

Poole identified barriers to FASD prevention including:

- women report guilt and shame prevent them from reporting their alcohol use in pregnancy
- women are fearful their child will be removed from their care if they disclose alcohol use in pregnancy.
- Doctors and health providers do not feel fully prepared to discuss substance use with women
- Problem alcohol use in women is often not recognised or treated.

Poole argues that maternal alcohol use needs to be viewed in a context, both of the mother's health, access to antenatal care, stress and nutrition, and within a broader context of her age, genetics, resilience, isolation, exposure to violence and poverty.

FASD prevention needs to be underpinned by an understanding of why women drink in pregnancy. Factors identified include:

- being unaware they are pregnant
- being unaware of the extent of possible damage to the fetus
- underestimating the harms because they know other women who drank during pregnancy and their children appear healthy
- Alcohol use is the norm in their social group and abstaining is difficult
- Using alcohol to cope with difficult life situations including poverty, depression, violence or isolation.
- Addiction (Cismaru et al 2010).

Poole identifies four levels of FASD prevention which are required to effectively address the issue.

- 1. Broad awareness building and health promotion efforts encompassing:
 - Development of health promotion materials
 - Awareness campaigns
 - Alcohol consumption guidelines
 - Warning labels
 - Materials for group work facilitators

Important features of effective prevention campaigns include engaging the whole family or community rather than focussing on individual women. However education campaigns are most likely to influence low risk drinkers and have little effect on high risk or binge drinkers.

16

- 2. Discussion of alcohol by and with professionals including:
 - Education about drink size
 - Routine screening
 - Screening for poly drug use
 - Medical school training and continuing education.

Brief interventions by health professionals can assist in identifying women who require further supports. It is important that screening feels safe for women who are concerned about losing custody of their children. Health professionals need good resources to help them have supportive, non-judgmental discussions with women about alcohol use. Discussion about the reasons for the current guidelines (that there is no safe level of alcohol that can be consumed in pregnancy) can assist women. Motivational interviewing is considered the most effective technique as it can assist in resolving ambivalence and strengthen individual's motivation for change.

- 3. Holistic Care and Advocacy including:
 - Specialized support for women who have children with FASD

Women who have children with FASD are at very high risk of negative life outcomes. In a study of mothers of 257 children with FASD, only 80 mothers could be interviewed. 42% of birth mothers could not be located, and 11% were deceased at the time of the follow up.

Of these women:

- 100% had been seriously sexually, physically or emotionally assaulted
- 80% had a major mental illness
- 80% lived with men who did not want them to stop drinking
- 24% had been in foster care
- 35% had been in juvenile detention
- 80% had child protection involvement with their children (Astley et al 2000a).

The study also identified that 46% of the mothers interviewed were still at risk for alcohol-exposed pregnancies. Thirty five of the mothers had given birth to children since their older child was diagnosed with FAS, and 75% of these subsequent births were alcohol affected. The authors argue that it is unethical not to reach out to these women and offer them access to prevention services (Astley et al 2000b).

Sheway is a pregnancy outreach program operating in Vancouver, Canada. It provides a drop-in service to women who are pregnant or have infants and who have drug or alcohol issues. The program aims to assist women to have healthy pregnancies through provision of alcohol and drug counseling, social work, nutrition support, paediatricians and allied health providers, Aboriginal community workers

and a range of others services. Meals are provided and a range of other practical supports. The program is linked to a mother-baby unit where at risk mothers can stay for 10 days post birth with their babies, to promote attachment and bonding and to reduce the likelihood that children are taken into care.

The program aims to engage women in accessing prenatal care and a range of other supports during pregnancy through reducing risk, providing a positive experience, supporting mothers' health, and reducing harm of substance abuse in pregnancy and numbers of children born with FASD (Poole 2000). More than half the clients are Aboriginal. Staffing is provided by a consortium including Aboriginal and mainstream health services, child protection services, and housing services.

Outcomes of the program include:

- Early engagement of pregnant women affects a range of outcomes in relation to maternal and fetal health
- Women who participate in the program were more likely to retain custody of their child
- Children who are involved in a comprehensive program of support have enhanced developmental outcomes.
- 4. Postpartum initiatives and support for new parents, including:
 - Home visitation by nurses
 - Mentoring programs
 - Key worker and parent support services.

The Olds program of nurse home visitation operates in selected Aboriginal Controlled Community Health services. This model is highly regarded and evaluation has indicated many positive outcomes for infants in the program, including reduction in maternal smoking, reducing infants emotional vulnerability, fewer language delays, and improved mental developmental (Olds et al 2002). However there was no significant effect of home visiting on mothers' substance use (Olds et al 2004). Addictions can also contribute to mothers being excluded from the program (Sivak et al 2008).

Astley et al recommend services such as the Parent Child Assistance Program a model developed in the United States, which offers a 3 year mentoring program to women, and aims to reduce alcohol use and improve contraception to reduce the risk of further alcohol exposed pregnancies. This program has been evaluated as highly successful and targets only women who are drinking in pregnancy at risky levels, or who have just had a child with FASD. It focuses on reducing the risk in future pregnancies. It has been estimated that the cost of raising a child with FAS is approximately 30 times the cost of a targeted prevention program (Astley et al 2002b).

Models of FASD prevention involving incarceration of pregnant women or other punitive measures have been raised from time to time by governments and have

¹⁸

been implemented at different times internationally, with minimal success. A review of 413 cases of women who had been deprived of liberty due to pregnancy in the United Stated between 1973-2004 found that:

- Overwhelmingly, women were economically disadvantaged
- 59% were women of colour
- in most cases there was no evidence of harm to the fetus
- actions were contrary to the consensus by public health organisations, medical groups and experts that such actions undermine rather than further maternal and fetal health
- Some women had been charged with murder following the death of a fetus
- Deprivations of liberty often occurred despite the fact there was a lack of legislative authority. Many charges against pregnant women were overturned on appeal to higher courts. Most of the legal arguments were based on the argument that the fetus is legally separate from a pregnant woman, which is not the case in US law.

Concerns regarding any form of punitive measure against pregnant women include the likelihood of women terminating pregnancies rather than being incarcerated or charged. It is also of concern that for every woman who is placed in a locked facility, on a treatment order or under some form of legal control during pregnancy, many other women will avoid disclosing their drug or alcohol use for fear of the consequences. Women will be less likely to seek help for their alcohol use in pregnancy, and they won't have access to preventative programs that support the health of the woman and her unborn child.

Research into Aboriginal women's experience of recovery from substance use in Canada identified key principles for treatment providers to understand:

- Empathy
- Being non-judgmental
- Providing inspiration
- Recognising the impact of trauma and colonialism
- Open communication
- Showing care
- Link to spirituality
- Helping women move toward the future (Dell 2013).

Recommendations:

2.1 That the Northern Territory Government commit to a FASD prevention strategy which includes:

g) Population wide messages about the risks of alcohol in pregnancy including alcohol labelling

- h) Guidelines for health professionals about messages relating to alcohol in pregnancy
- i) Specialised supports for women who have children with FASD and are at risk of further births
- j) Services to women who use alcohol in pregnancy should be supportive and recognise the complex issues relating to alcohol use in pregnancy
- k) Follow up support for at risk mothers after the birth of a child to reduce the risk of harm in future pregnancies
- I) Services for Aboriginal women should be non-judgmental, recognise impact of trauma, and be culturally safe.

2.2. NTCOSS does not support any form of punitive measures for pregnant women as research indicates this to be counter-productive.

3. Diagnosis of FASD

Diagnosis of FASD is usually made by a multi-disciplinary team. These teams include a paediatrician, speech and language therapist, physiotherapist, occupational therapist, neuropsychologist or other psychologist and social worker. The diagnostic process includes:

- a history provided by the social worker
- psychological testing including the domains identified above.
- Speech and language testing
- Motor skills testing
- Facial measurements
- Review of growth charts
- Discussion of the individuals' test results and agreement on a diagnosis.
- Recommendations for future interventions to support the individual
- Feedback to the individual and family
- Follow up may be offered.

The diagnostic process is usually completed in a half-day session. There are no diagnostic clinics for FASD in the Northern Territory. Paediatricians in the NT will sometimes diagnose FASD depending on the confidence of the practitioner that the conditions are met.

Peadon (2007), a General Practitioner, provides a rationale for FASD diagnosis looking at both individual and social factors:

For the child, accurate diagnosis informs and enables early intervention which leads to a 2–4 times reduction in the risk of secondary disabilities in adulthood (Streissguth et al 2004) For the family, diagnosis is important. It provides an explanation for the child's problems, leads to better understanding and more appropriate expectations of the child, and may improve access to educational and social services and government

allowances. Making the diagnosis of FAS, ARBD or ARND also provides an opportunity for prevention of damage to future children. At a public health level, diagnosis can improve reporting of incidence and prevalence and thus allows research, advocacy and planning for health, educational and social services. Potential negatives of making the diagnosis such as maternal guilt and blame always need to be addressed sensitively as part of assessment and management. (Peadon et al 2007)

Early intervention is dependent on diagnosis. Diagnostic teams have been identified as a best practice model and have been operating in the United States for over 20 years. The model is effective and could be implemented in the NT using existing practitioners.

Recognition of FASD as a disability would open up further pathways into services for affected individuals. Access to assessment, case management services, specialist behavioural management services and housing would be of benefit, the disability workforce would need to be resourced around the unique nature of FASD and the range of variability in the condition.

Recommendations:

- 3.1 That FASD diagnostic teams be established in the NT
- 3.2 That FASD be identified as a disability in the NT
- 3.3 That individuals with FASD be able to access Disability Services
- 3.4 That Disability Services workers be trained in FASD.

4. Support to Carers and Family Members

Children with FASD in foster care are at greater risk of placement breakdown due to difficult behaviours. Foster carers often experience high levels of frustration at the challenges of managing children with FASD, and the lack of support provided by child protection workers and other agencies in relation to FASD, often due to the fact that workers do not have access to resources and training on this issue.

The National Organisation for FASD (NOFASD Australia) has conducted training with foster carers on an annual basis. Carers need resourcing around the needs of children with FASD and access to ongoing support from professionals who are knowledgeable about FASD management strategies.

More needs to be done to support children in care with FASD and to support carers. Accesses to services can be adhoc and carers may be required to advocate for the children in their care to get a diagnosis and support. A review of the needs of families affected by FASD in Australia found that carers wanted access to diagnosis, support and knowledgeable professionals. Key recommendations included:

- Biological mothers of affected children need support if FASD is to be prevented
- There is little recognition of the disorder or the burden associated with FASD
- Classification of FASD as a disability will improve services for those affected
- Carers need to be provided with information about FASD and strategies for dealing with the behaviour and health of children
- Out of home care placements need to be supported and sustained.
- Effective interventions for families caring for children with FASD should be piloted and evaluated (Breen et al 2012).

Recommendations:

4. Development of training and FASD specific resources to enhance the skill and knowledge base for those caring for or supporting individuals with FASD.

5. Resourcing of the Service Sector to better respond to FASD

Antenatal care

Women are not always provided with clear, accurate information about the risks of drinking in pregnancy. An Australian study of paediatricians in Western Australia in 2006 found that only 43.9% of paediatricians believed women should abstain from using alcohol in pregnancy. Only 11.4% had read the current Australian guidelines and only 9.1% provided advice consistent with the guidelines (Elliott et al 2006).

When health providers were surveyed more broadly, it was identified that 45% of those caring for pregnant women routinely ask about alcohol in pregnancy, 25% routinely provide information on the consequences of alcohol in pregnancy and only 13% provide advice consistent with NHMRC guidelines (Payne et al 2005).

Women who are high risk of having a child with FASD may access services late in pregnancy. Women who have alcohol dependency may not access antenatal care at all. These women are highly vulnerable and may avoid services where they feel under pressure. Women consuming alcohol in pregnancy should be advised that it is never too late to stop consuming alcohol in a pregnancy. This education may also assist in future pregnancies. However women with alcohol dependence may not be able to stop using alcohol without specialist treatment. It can be difficult for women to enter alcohol treatment when they have other children at home, and when their partners consume alcohol. Community consultation about the best programs to assist pregnant women with alcohol dependence is required.

Limited data exists about the use of alcohol in pregnancy. The Australian Institute of Health and Welfare produces an annual report "Australia's Mothers and Babies". Data on smoking in pregnancy is collated but data on alcohol is under development. This is a significant gap.

Recommendations:

5.1 Improved data collection in relation to alcohol in pregnancy

5.2 Development of procedures to ensure all pregnant women receive appropriate screening for alcohol use and training for practitioners to ensure this occurs.

5.3 Resources for health practitioners to develop sensitive and culturally safe strategies for assessing alcohol use in pregnancy and providing education to mothers.

5.4 Community consultation about appropriate service models to assist pregnant women with alcohol dependence access treatment.

Identification of Infants with Fetal Alcohol Exposure

Infants born with FASD are usually not diagnosed until age 7 or 8 as the assessments require a certain level of brain development. Even infants with FAS are rarely identified at birth. A study of children diagnosed with FAS in Australia found that only 6.5% of children who met the criteria for Fetal Alcohol Syndrome were diagnosed at birth (Elliott xx). Health workers may suspect that an infant is affected but this may or may not be recorded in case notes due to lack of firm evidence.

Many doctors are reluctant to diagnose FASD because they fear it will stigmatise the child and the mother. Research has found that 69.6% of paediatricians and 53% of other health providers thought diagnosis would be stigmatizing (Elliott et all 2006). Only 2% of health providers felt equipped to deal with FAS (Payne et all 2005).

Only 18.9% of paediatricians could identify all four diagnostic features of FAS and only 23.3% routinely ask about alcohol in pregnancy when taking a child's history (Elliott et al 2006).

Nearly all the providers surveyed wanted more information about the effects of alcohol in pregnancy. Health providers in the NT need to source their own information about FASD as there is nothing produced locally. There are a number of online resources produced by agencies in the US and Canada, and a few Australian resources. The projects in Tennant Creek and Ord Valley (Kunnunurra) have produced high quality resources suitable for working with Aboriginal families, but these are not widely distributed.

The stigma associated with FASD needs to be overcome so that parents receive the information they need and so that affected children are diagnosed early and offered early intervention. Early intervention is the most effective way to assist children with FASD developing to the best of their abilities and to prevent development of secondary disabilities. Early diagnosis can also assist in educating parents to prevent further alcohol affected pregnancies.

Recommendations:

5.5 Further training of health providers in identification and diagnosis of FAS and FASD

5.6 That the NT government produce resources for health providers on FASD, diagnosis and screening, effects of FASD and intervention strategies.

5.7 That procedures be put in place to ensure that children with Fetal Alcohol Exposure are flagged for regular developmental screens

5.8 That Fetal Alcohol exposure be recorded on medical files to enable future diagnosis when available

Early Childhood and Allied Health Services

Aboriginal children in the NT experience a range of developmental vulnerabilities due to factors including anemia, malnutrition, infections, and lack of access to quality child care. Their parenting may be compromised if parents have drug or alcohol issues, low educational attainment, live in violence or overcrowding, and experience other socio-economic factors. Developmental issues may be due to multiple causes and it is important that these issues are taken into account in assessing children.

With so many issues impacting on children, FASD is often invisible and when identified, not seen as a priority due to many other competing demands. Yet FASD is a predictor of poor long term outcomes. Early intervention with children at risk of FASD includes identifying areas in which the child is not meeting milestones and implementing aggressive early interventions. These include speech and language, gross motor and fine motor skills, and behavioural management where relevant. It also involves resourcing the parents or carers to understand the risks associated with fetal alcohol exposure so they can identify symptoms when they emerge.

Screening for FASD can identify children at risk of the disorder, and early interventions can be put in place based on the presenting issues of each child, even without diagnosis. There are a range of screening tools which have been developed in the US and Canada which could be adapted to the NT setting and while not providing an accurate diagnosis, help identify children who require interventions and further follow up.

Recommendations:

5.9 That the NT government ensure that all agencies working with infants, children or families have access to accurate, up to date information about alcohol consumption in pregnancy and the impact of FASD.

5.10 That the NT government provide FASD screening guidelines to professionals working with vulnerable infants and children.

5.11 That culturally appropriate information is sourced from relevant successful FASD Projects in Australia and adapted where necessary to the NT setting.

25

Childcare and Preschool services

Children with FASD may be first identified at childcare or preschool, when their behaviours indicate that there may be developmental issues. Commonly children with FASD may struggle to understand social rules, may have trouble with boundaries and consequences, may have difficulty with peer relationships and may not cope with the stimulation of a busy childcare setting. This overstimulation can lead to aggression or withdrawal, which is subsequently identified as problematic behaviour.

Children may also struggle to learn, may repeat mistakes, or may learn something but appear to forget it the next day. Because children's performance can be very inconsistent, they are often labeled as non-compliant rather than having their disability recognised.

Behavioural issues such as tantrums and aggression can be linked to delayed speech development, and early intervention in this area can reduce the impact of FASD.⁴ Where children do not have access to childcare, these behaviours may not be recognised until the child starts primary school, and an opportunity to intervene early may be lost.

Staff providing early intervention services such as allied health care or behavioural support, require education and training about FASD and successful approaches. Effective strategies include reducing stimulation, providing quiet spaces for a child to withdraw into, creating visual cues for routines and use of techniques such as positive rewards, skill rehearsal and catching the child 'being good' (Burd 2006).

Recommendations:

5.12 That the NT government explore screening of children at preschool for FASD in order to refer for diagnosis and early intervention services.

5.13 That staff of early childcare services are provided with education and training in FASD

5.14 That successful interventions for children with FASD in preschool years are promoted.

Education

Indigenous education in the Northern Territory has been explored in detail. Kronemann (2007) identified that challenges to education are complex and cannot be dealt with in isolation, and that success requires partnerships between communities, service providers and government.

⁴

NTCOSS submission to the Legislative Assembly Select Committee on Prevention of Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder

Within a context where significant work is being done to improve issues impacting on education of Aboriginal children in the NT, FASD can pose challenges for educators which they may not be trained and resourced to respond to.

Children with FASD in the education system are likely to have significant issues in the classroom. These children are likely to struggle with many aspects of learning, due to problems with memory, auditory processing issues, cognitive issues and difficulties with abstract concepts. Sensory issues associated with FASD also make it difficult for children to concentrate in a classroom environment. Lighting, noise, and a highly stimulating environment can overwhelm a child who has limited ability to process multiple stimuli.

A recent comprehensive review of Indigenous education in the Northern Territory identified a theme particularly in remote schools that student behaviour constitutes a barrier to effective teaching and learning. Factors identified included hearing loss, lack of sleep, FAS, hyperactivity and trauma-associated issues, mental health. There is not always capacity for staff to manage all these issues (Wilson 2013).

The NT has appointed a Senior FASD Consultant in Darwin and a Psychologist in Alice Springs to assist schools to better identify and meet the needs of children with FASD. The program will provide training to schools and assistance to plan classroom management strategies.

Children can be referred by a paediatrician to Disability Support Services. Anecdotal information suggests some children with FASD are successfully being referred for support services in the classroom. However the majority of children do not have access to 1:1 support. Generally when funding for inclusion support is provided, it is spread across the classroom to support all children in their learning. Yet children with FASD will often require 1:1 support to succeed in the classroom.

Recommendations:

5.15 That FASD training be included in professional development for all teachers in the NT.

5.16 That DET develop resources on classroom management strategies and individual learning plans that reflect best current international practice.

Child Protection and foster care

Children in care are a high-risk population for FASD (Astley et al 2002). A recent study of children in the Child Protection system in NT identified that 20% of children under investigation and 38% of children in care were subject to fetal alcohol exposure (Walker 2014). While not all children who have been exposed to alcohol will develop FASD, those who do will pose significant challenges for the care system.

27

Department of Children and Families has conducted FASD training for the past three years. There is little information readily available to child protection workers about successful models of intervention with this group and almost no research has been conducted in Australia on children with FASD in the child protection system. More work is needed to raise the profile of children with FASD to ensure that their needs can be better identified and addressed in the child protection system.

Recommendations:

5.17 That Department of Children and Families identify and implement best practice models to assess and support children with FASD.

Youth services

By the time a young person with FASD reaches adolescence, they are likely to have been frustrated with school, have low self esteem and very few friends. These young people are often desperate to make friends, and with low impulse control, lack of ability to weigh up risks, and a poor understanding of the consequences of their behaviour, are vulnerable to others who may want to exploit them. People, who they consider as friends may abuse them financially, exploit them sexually or involve them in criminal activity and drug use.

Mental health issues are common as is suicidality. Mental health and drug and alcohol services are not always trained in working with the particular brain injury caused by alcohol – where young people appear verbally competent but don't always understand what is being said, and have impaired capacity to plan or evaluate different courses of action. Strategies which rely on memory, such as making agreements about seeking help if feeling suicidal or planning to reduce drug use, may be forgotten as soon as the young person leaves the room. It is important that all workers who have contact with young people with Fetal Alcohol exposure are aware of the nature and characteristics of FASD in order to identify when a young person may be affected and adapt service delivery to the needs of the individual.

Many of these young people will drift into the homelessness system, either after leaving care or as a result of family living circumstances. A longitudinal study of individuals with FASD found that of those aged 12 and over:

- 94% had mental health issues, usually depression or anxiety
- 60% of children had ADHD
- 70% had disrupted school experiences
- 60% had been in trouble with the law
- 60% had been incarcerated for criminal or treatment purposes
- 30% experienced substance abuse problems
- 80% of adults lived in dependent accommodation

Individuals who did not have the full Fetal Alcohol Syndrome had higher rates of secondary disabilities. Early diagnosis and access to services was a protective factor (Streissguth 1996).

Recommendations:

5.18 That workers with vulnerable young people be provided with access to resources and training to assist them in developing more appropriate service responses to young people with FASD.

5.19 That international best practice service models for supporting young people with FASD be explored and features of these models be incorporated into existing service design.

Services for vulnerable adults

As stated above, adults with FASD have particularly poor outcomes. FASD sets up a lifetime of difficulty in negotiating many of the tasks of daily living, including finding and maintaining accommodation, paying bills, keeping up to date with appointments, self care, and managing the care of children. Most adults with FASD will struggle with one or more of these areas over time, if not all. Combined with the effects of the secondary disabilities listed above, in particular drug and alcohol issues, mental health, involvement with the justice system and being a victim of violence, it is highly likely that adults with FASD will come into contact with a number of welfare and support services.

Homelessness services

Adults with FASD are likely to require support in independent living. They are likely to access homelessness services at some stage of life but may struggle with expectations such as rules, expectations, boundaries and appropriate behaviour. They are likely to have difficulty attending appointments, using public transport and adhering to plans and agreements. As a result they are likely to be excluded from services from time to time due to breaching the agreements made.

Adults also are likely to require ongoing support. Transitional services, which rely on the individual learning skills over time and then applying them independently, are likely to fail with adults with FASD. Traditional models of intervention involving teaching skills (ie bill paying), modeling, monitoring and then phasing out support are unlikely to be effective, as the adult with FASD will be able to learn skills, but may not be able to continue to apply them after support is withdrawn. The service system does not often support adults who need ongoing support unless they have been diagnosed with a disability.

Disability services

A number of adults and children with FAS are cared for by the Disability Services system, where they meet criteria. The more affected the individual, the more likely that they will be eligible for Disability Services, usually due to their low level of independent functioning or their IQ being below the cut off of 70. Yet most individuals with FASD have IQs in the normal range and present well verbally, giving the impression that they do not have a disability.

FASD diagnosis will ensure that these individuals are eligible for Disability support services. However increased resourcing is required to meet these needs of this client group, and to educate and train workers in the Disability sector to adapt their practice to include FASD clients.

Family violence services

Many adults with FASD are victims of violence and are vulnerable to exploitation in relationships. These adults may struggle with some of the expectations of services in relation to safety planning and following through on plans to leave the relationship, establish housing and parent children who have been exposed to violence. Family violence workers need education and training to identify adults who may have FASD and adapt their service model to the individual's abilities. Ongoing support services may be required for some individuals to establish themselves in an environment free of violence.

Drug and alcohol services

A highproportion of adults with FASD have alcohol and drug issues. Often models of counseling are not designed for clients with impairments in the areas of memory, cognition, planning and evaluation of options. Reflecting on past drug use and planning to change future behaviours are not necessarily effective strategies with this group of clients. Successful strategies have been documented internationally and these need to be identified and adapted to the client group in the NT. For example, adults with FASD with addictions may reduce their alcohol or drug use by changing the environment rather than changing their thinking. An environment free of drugs and alcohol and positive role models and mentors are more effective strategies with this client group. Cognitive behavioural therapy is likely to be ineffective with this group.

Mental health services

Similar issues exist with mental health services, particularly in the use of cognitive behavioural therapy which assumes a level of working memory. Suicidality is unlikely to be addressed effectively through making plans or agreements which rely on memory. Individuals with FASD who are suicidal may be unable to be an active player in their own safety plan and safety may need to come from external

monitoring. Again, changing the environment, mentoring and role modeling are the most effective strategies to address negative behaviour and thinking in individuals with FASD.

Recommendations:

5.20 That services providing support to vulnerable adults are provided with resources about effective interventions with adults with FASD based on best practice Internationally.

5.21 That staff working with adults who may have fetal alcohol exposure be educated and trained about the disorder

5.22 That staff working with adults ask about maternal alcohol consumption in pregnancy as part of their assessment.

6. Implementation of Good Practice FASD Prevention and Intervention models

There are a number of good practice models for FASD prevention and intervention. The programs described here all have features that could work effectively in the NT context. These are a small sample of many programs which could deliver benefits for children, young people and families.

Australian Programs

OVAHS FASD project: A locally owned and driven project with community-wide prevention, and individual support for high risk families

The Ord Valley Aboriginal Health Service (OVAHS) FASD Project was developed in response to local concerns about high levels of alcohol use, including during pregnancy, and suspected rates of FASD. The local traditional owners identified alcohol use in pregnancy and provided the initial funding for the project.

The first stage of the project was to develop an understanding of the problem locally, including drinking patterns among pregnant women. It aimed to identify the needs of women in the target group and deliver strategies to assist individuals and families to make informed choices about alcohol use in pregnancy.

The project developed a plan addressing the needs of 5 target groups.

- 1. All antenatal clients of OVAHS were provided with FASD education, AOD assessment and counseling. Interventions were extended to include partners and family members. Contraception advice was provided and follow up was extended post-birth.
- 2. Women of childbearing age (13-45) were provided with FASD and contraception education through local services including schools, local services and community events. A focus was placed on at-risk women who might not normally access services. Education for older women was also provided as a way of supporting younger women and promoting intergenerational knowledge about alcohol in pregnancy.
- 3. All staff of OVAHS were provided with training on alcohol awareness, FASD and contraception. Nursing and medical staff completed the FASD diagnostic course online through the University of Washington.
- 4. Local Aboriginal men were targeted as key players in supporting their partners to abstain from alcohol in pregnancy. Men were engaged around their fatherhood responsibilities and the need to pass on oral cultural knowledge, which is disrupted when young people suffer neurological damage.
- 5. Broad community consultation and development of connections with Aboriginal population, local organisations occurred to ensure that the local community was invested in the program. Relationships with national and international FASD networks were developed to ensure that the program was

informed by current research and knowledge.

Outcomes identified at the end of the first year included:

- FASD assessment and education through brief interventions has become a routine part of antenatal care.
- An antenatal survey has been developed which measures women's alcohol use, knowledge of FASD and knowledge of risks of alcohol in pregnancy. The questionnaire is delivered by an Aboriginal health worker. Follow up support in relation to reducing alcohol use where indicated is offered by the Social Support Unit.
- 84.7% of women identified alcohol use during pregnancy.
- After FASD education, 56.4% of women reported that they abstained from alcohol, 14.1% cut down and 1.2% continued to drink alcohol.
- The program has identified gaps in young women's knowledge about contraception. Health centre staff now routinely ask young women about contraception.
- There were challenges in educating women about the impact of FASD when many babies born had no visible signs of the disorder. Education has focused on the hidden nature of the disability and has used visual aids and audiovisual materials to convey the message.
- Women reported pressure from their partners to consume alcohol with their family, and that if they removed themselves from the 'drinking circle' that conflicts with their partner resulted. OVAHS had to overcome views that pregnancy was "women's business' and did so through engaging men who wanted FASD education and to participate in program design. Men were actively engaged in the program and were encouraged to take an active role supporting partners but cutting down or abstaining from alcohol themselves during the pregnancy.

The program was based on a foundation of community control, ownership and investment. Its development was a response to a need identified by community members and this has been critical to its success. The program is now embedded within the OVAHS as part of the New Directions Mothers and Babies program.

Anyinginyi Health Aboriginal Corporation FASD Project

The Project mandate has been to raise awareness, educate, prevent and support. The initial focus has been two fold:

- To identify and partner/network with existing services and programs; and
- To develop a library of resources, which can continue to be used by the community beyond the lifetime of the Project.

Activities of the program include:

- The development of Pregnancy Pamper Packs, currently being distributed via health professionals to all pregnant women with the aim of providing information and support to encourage them not to drink alcohol;
- The creation of a FASD Prevention hip hop song with local young people, called "Strong Baby, Strong Life!"
- The adoption of warning signage in local licensed premises;
- Various education and prevention sessions with different community groups; and,
- Ongoing collection of resources and research.

Staff of the program have presented at the International Conference on FASD in Canada in 2013.

In the second year of the project, despite funding being cut, the project aimed to consolidate and build on community knowledge and ownership of the FASD issues, as well as support of individuals, families and services dealing with FASD. A training package for teachers was developed, and rolled out as a multimedia package for use by teachers, health professionals, families and carers in the Barkly region. A second film was produced using puppets to tell the story of a child with FASD, with funding from the Foundation for Alcohol Research and Education (FARE). Puppets are used in many of the training workshops and have proven to be a very valuable resource for breaking down barriers in education.

<u>No Safe Amount – the Effects of Alcohol in Pregnancy Campaign – NPY Womens</u> <u>Council Aboriginal Corporation</u>

The No safe amount - the effects of alcohol in pregnancy campaign was created by the Ngaanyatjarra Pitjantjatjara Yankunytjatjata (NPY) Women's Council Aboriginal Corporation. The program is an early intervention and prevention campaign designed to raise awareness of the deleterious and permanent effects of using alcohol during pregnancy. This message is achieved through an education and advertising campaign, and a DVD resource that uses a combination of multimedia including animation and live action.

The campaign was developed in partnership with young people in the remote Aboriginal Community of Imanpa, including script development, pre and post production, and casting. The stories contained within the DVD have been role played by local community members who were actively engaged in the process. In 2010, the commercials produced as part of the campaign were aired on Imparja Television. The three 30 second broadcast quality commercials are in both Pitjantjatjara (the local language) and English, and comprise of:

- a. Ititjara (pregnancy)
- b. The growing brain
- c. Responsible fathers

The campaign won the Outstanding Achievement in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Award at the Deadly Awards in 2011 (NPYWC.org.au). However, the screening of this valuable DVD is rather costly and NPY does not have the financial resources to have it screened on commercial TV. This would be a very good an excellent promotional resource, if it could attract further funding.

Marulu: The Liliwan project, Fitzroy Crossing

Marulu: the Lililwan project is a community-led strategy developed to address Fetal alcohol spectrum disorder (FASD) in the Fitzroy Valley of Western Australia. A group of Aboriginal leaders have partnered with experts in Aboriginal health, paediatric medicine, human rights advocacy, child protection and a production company to progress the strategy. The project has three components:

- a. diagnosis and prevention of FASD
- b. support for parents and carers of children with FASD
- c. advocacy and awareness-raising about FASD.

To find out how widespread FASD is in the communities of Fitzroy Valley, community leaders initiated a partnership between Nindilingarri Cultural Health Services, Marninwarntikura Woman's Resource Centre, The George Institute for Global Health and the Discipline of Paediatrics and Child Health at The University of Sydney Medical School. This partnership is conducting Australia's first ever prevalence study of FASD, the Lililwan Project.

Each child diagnosed with FASD will be given a personalized FASD management plan involving their families, doctors and teachers. The project will also educate the communities about the risks of drinking alcohol during pregnancy and about the challenges faced by children with FASD and their families.

The project team has produced two films - a documentary and an educational film - to raise awareness of FASD and its impact on the lives of children, their families, carers and communities living in the Fitzroy Valley (The George Institute, http://www.georgeinstitute.org.au/projects/marulu-overcoming-fetal-alcohol-spectrum-disorders-fasd).

The Liliwan project is a large scale diagnostic program which has attracted considerable funding. While it would be difficult to replicate, the learnings of the project should inform NT policy and program development in this area. Health professionals in the NT would benefit from learning about the diagnostic strategies used, and the personalised FASD management plans would be highly relevant to the NT context, as they draw on the resources of a small community with visiting specialist services and share all the challenges of remote towns and Aboriginal communities in the NT.

International Programs

<u>The Parent Child Assistance Program – multiple sites in the United States and</u> <u>Canada.</u>

The Parent–Child Assistance Program (PCAP) began in 1991 at the University of Washington. It is an intensive three-year one-on-one mentoring program for women at high risk of having a child born with FASD.

The primary aim of the program is to prevent future alcohol and drug exposed pregnancies by encouraging the use of effective contraceptive use, by helping women abstain from or decrease their use of alcohol and drugs and by addressing the range of factors that contribute to women's substance use, including poverty, isolation, and lack of parenting support. The program uses a home visiting/case management approach and is based on principles of harm reduction.

The model has been replicated and evaluated across North America and has been found to be effective in a number of ways. A number of programs have been implemented in First Nations communities and the model is considered very appropriate in working with Indigenous women.

A recent study conducted an economic evaluation of the PCAP program in Alberta. Between 2008 and 2011, 366 women participated in 25 P-CAP programs across the province.

The evaluation estimated that the program prevented approximately 31 (range 20–43) cases of FASD among the 366 clients in a 3-year period which resulted in a costbenefit of approximately US\$22 million (*Girls, Women and Pregnancy, fasdprevention.wordpress*).

FASD Key Worker Program – Canada, multiple locations.

The FASD Key Worker program provides support to families with children and young people with confirmed or suspected FASD. Parents may self refer for assessment and the child is not required to have a diagnosis.

Key workers assist families to understand FASD by providing education and information specific to the needs of the child and family. They assist families to locate appropriate resources, assist them to get support, health and education services and can act as an advocate for the family in the service system. They also provide emotional and practical support to families.

Key workers support family members to adapt the environment to better meet the child's needs and assist the family to become advocates for the child. The role can include facilitating carer and parent groups, parent training and mentoring. In Canada these programs are often located in Aboriginal Health services or Family support services (Ministry for Children and Families, British Columbia, Canada http://www.mcf.gov.bc.ca/fasd/kw_support.htm).

Through an Aboriginal Lens Project – British Columbia, Canada.

This is a new project funded in 2014 to address a gap in services for Aboriginal youth referred for FASD assessment by Youth Probation Officers. The program aims to create culturally appropriate supports among Aboriginal family and community members and build the capacity of participating young people to help them transition from justice involvement to rehabilitation and reintegration into the community.

Two Aboriginal FASD Youth and Family Support Workers are employed to work with young people to assist them in understanding what living with an FASD diagnosis, coexisting substance abuse and other life harms means in relation to their conflict with the law. The goal is to help youth identify within themselves and their support systems both the assets and areas that need additional support in order to develop individual strategies that will ensure their successful navigation through the justice system and assessment process.

The Support Workers are responsible for providing basic counselling, guidance, support, community development, service networking, education and advocacy. The overall approach will be nonjudgmental, accepting each young person regardless of the number of offences committed, relapses, types of drugs or length of usage (Asante Centre, asantecentre.org, 2014)

Recommendation:

6.1 That the NT FASD Working group examine good practice models of FASD prevention and intervention both from Australia and Internationally with a view to implementation in selected sites in the NT.

References

Anderson A. et al, (2014) Risky Drinking Patterns are being Continued into Pregnancy: A Prospective Cohort Study, PLOS One, January 2014 Vol 9 Issue 7

Astley, S, Stachowiak, J, Clarren S and Clausen C. (2002) Application of the fetal alcohol syndrome facial photographic screening tool in a foster care population, Journal of Paediatrics, 141:712-7.

Astley S, Bailey D, Talbot C and Clarren SK. (2000). Fetal Alcohol Syndrome (FAS) Primary Prevention through FASD Diagnosis II: A comprehensive profile of 80 birth mothers of children with FAS. Alcohol and Alcoholism, 35 (5) 509-519.

Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW) (2011) Alcohol and other Drug Treatment Services in the Northern Territory 2009-10: Findings from the National Minimum Data Set. Canberra 2011.

Breen, C and Burns, L. Improving services to families affected by FASD, National Drug and Alcohol Research Centre, University of New South Wales.

Bower C, Silva D, Henderson TR, Ryan A, Rudy E. (2000) Ascertainment of birth defects: the effect on completeness of adding a new source of data. Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health 2000;36(6):574-6.

Burd, L. (2006) News You Can Use: Getting an Early Start on Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders, Fact sheet. www.online-clinic.com.

Burton J 2012. Opening doors through partnerships: practical approaches to developing genuine partnerships that address Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander community needs. Melbourne: Secretariat of National Aboriginal and Islander Child Care.

Cismaru et al (2010) Preventing Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders: The Role of Protection Motivation Theory, Health Marketing Quarterly, Vol 27 (1) pp 66-85.

Dell, C. From Stilettos to Moccasins: A Healing Journey, University of Saskatchewan, http://www.cihr-irsc.gc.ca/e/46772.html retrieved 28 May 2014.

Elliott, E, Payne, J, Haan, E and Bower, C. (2006) Diagnosis of Foetal Alcohol Syndrome and alcohol use in pregnancy: A survey of paediatrician's knowledge, attitudes and practice. Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health, Vol 42 (11) pp 698-703.

HGPIS (Health Gains Planning Information Sheet) (2010) Alcohol Use in the Northern Territory, www.healthynt.gov.au, , October 2010

38

HRSCSPLA (House of Representatives Standing Committee on Social Policy and Legal Affairs) 2012. FASD: the hidden harm: inquiry into the prevention, diagnosis and management of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders.

Latimer J, E Elliott, et al, Marulu The Lililwan Project Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders (FASD) Prevalence Study in the Fitzroy Valley: A Community Consultation, The George Institute for Global Health (2010)

Wise S 2013. Improving the early life outcomes of Indigenous children: implementing early childhood development at the local level. Issues paper no. 6. Produced for the Closing the Gap Clearinghouse. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare & Melbourne: Australian Institute of Family Studies.

Hunt J 2013. Engagement with Indigenous communities in key sectors. Resource sheet no. 23. Produced for the Closing the Gap Clearinghouse. Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare & Melbourne: Australian Institute of Family Studies.

Olds DL et al (2004). Effects of home visits by paraprofessionals and nurses: age 4 follow-up results of a randomized trial, Pediatrics, Dec 114(6) 1560-8.

Olds, DL et al. (2002) Home visiting by paraprofessionals and by nurses: a randomized, controlled trial., Pediatrics, Sep 110 (3), 486-96.

Payne, J. Elliott, E, et al. (2005). Health professionals knowledge, practice and opinions about fetal alcohol syndrome and alcohol consumption in pregnancy, Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health, Vol 29 (6) pp 558-564.

Peadon, E, O'Leary C, Bower C and Elliott E. (2007) Impacts of alcohol use in pregnancy: the role of the GP, Australian Family Physician Vol 36 No 11 November 2007

Poole N (2000). Evaluation report of the Sheway Project for high-risk pregnant and parenting women, British Columbia Centre of Excellence for Women's Health.

Sivak L, Arney, F, Lewig, K. A Pilot Exploration of a Family Home Visiting Program for Famlies of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Island Children, Australian Centre for Child Protection, University of South Australia.

Streissguth, A.P., Barr, H.M., Kogan, J. & Bookstein, F. L., "Understanding the Occurrence of Secondary Disabilities in Clients with Fetal Alcohol Syndrome (FAS) and Fetal Alcohol Effects (FAE)," Final Report to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), August, 1996, Seattle: University of Washington, Fetal Alcohol & Drug Unit, Tech. Rep. No. 96-06, (1996).

Streissguth AP, Bookstein FL, Barr HM, Sampson PD, O'Malley K, Young JK. Risk factors for adverse life outcomes in fetal alcohol syndrome and fetal alcohol effects.

39

J Dev Behav Pediatr 2004;25:228–38.

Walker P (2014) Fetal Alcohol Exposure among Children in the Child Protection System in the Northern Territory, unpublished conference paper.

Wilson B. (2014). A Share in the future: Review of Indigenous Education in the Northern Territory: Draft Report. Darwin, Department of Education.